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And God said unto them: Be fruitful, and multiply, and replenish the earth, and subdue it: and have dominion over the fish of the sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over every living thing that moveth upon the earth.

—Genesis 1:28

 

Nature is overrated.
 But we’ll miss it when it’s gone!

—Florida golfers, in the 2002 film Sunshine State





Introduction



“A Treasure for Our Country”

ON DECEMBER 11, 2000, the Supreme Court heard oral arguments in George W. Bush, et al. v. Albert Gore Jr., et al., the partisan battle royale that would end the stalemate over the Florida recount and send one of the litigants to the White House. The deadlocked election had exposed a divided nation, and pundits were describing Governor Bush’s “Red America” and Vice President Gore’s “Blue America” as if they were separate countries at war. After five weeks of ferocious wrangling over “pregnant chads” and “hanging chads,” hard-liners in both camps were warning of an illegitimate presidency, a constitutional crisis, a bloodless coup.

Inside the Court’s marble-and-mahogany chambers, Senator Robert Smith of New Hampshire watched the legal jousting with genuine awe. Smith was one of the hardest of Red America’s hardliners, a passionate antiabortion, antigay, antitax Republican, and he believed he was watching a struggle for the soul of his country. Smith was also a former small-town civics teacher, less jaded than most of his colleagues in Congress, and Bush v. Gore was a civics lesson for the ages, a courtroom drama that would decide the leader of the free world. “It doesn’t get any bigger than this,” he thought.

But less than an hour into the proceedings, Smith suddenly walked out on history, squeezing his six-foot-five, 280-pound frame past his perplexed seatmates. “Excuse me,” he whispered. “Excuse me.” A bear of a man with fleshy jowls, a bulbous nose, and a sloppy comb-over, Smith could feel the stares as he lumbered down the center aisle, then jostled through the hushed standing-room crowd to the exit. “Excuse me. Excuse me.”

Smith’s abrupt departure looked like one of his unorthodox protests, like the time he brandished a plastic fetus on the Senate floor, or the time he announced he was resigning from the Republican Party because it was cutting too many big-government deals with the Democrats. Smith was an unabashed ideologue, rated the most conservative and the most frugal senator by various right-wing interest groups. He had voted against food stamps and Head Start, clamored for President Bill Clinton’s impeachment, and even mounted his own quixotic campaign for president on a traditional-values platform.

But this was no protest. Smith was rushing to the White House, to celebrate a big-government deal with the Democrats.

At the height of the partisan war over the Florida recount, President Clinton was signing a bipartisan bill to revive the Florida Everglades, a $7.8 billion rescue mission for sixty-nine endangered species and twenty national parks and refuges. It was the largest environmental restoration project in the history of the planet, and Smith had pushed it through Congress with classic liberal rhetoric, dismissing its price tag as “just a can of Coke per citizen per day,” beseeching his colleagues to “save this treasure as our legacy to our children and grandchildren.” So after his dash from the Court, he headed straight to the Cabinet Room, where he exchanged congratulations with some of the Democratic Party’s top environmentalists, like Interior Secretary Bruce Babbitt, the former head of the League of Conservation Voters, and White House aide George Frampton, the former head of the Wilderness Society. And Smith was not even the most surprising guest in the West Wing that day.

That was Florida’s Republican governor, another key supporter of the Everglades plan, a former Miami developer named Jeb Bush. As the world waited to hear whether his brother would win his state and succeed their father’s successor in the White House, Jeb was already there, staring out at the Rose Garden with the air of a quarterback who had stumbled into the opposing locker room near the end of the Super Bowl. “The last time I was here, your father was president!” one lobbyist told him. Jeb tried to smile, but it came out more like a grimace. One Clinton appointee began babbling about the Cuban Missile Crisis—possibly the last time that room had felt that tense. Jeb even said hi to a Miami congresswoman who had publicly accused him of suppressing black votes. “This,” thought Jeb’s top environmental aide, “is as surreal as politics can get.”

Unless, that is…but no, Vice President Gore, a key architect of the Everglades plan, stayed home to listen to the Supreme Court audiotape. “I was really proud of what we accomplished in the Everglades,” Gore later recalled. “But I was in a pretty pitched battle that day.”

At 1:12 P.M., an ebullient President Clinton invited everyone into the Oval Office, the room that George W. Bush liked to say needed a good scrubbing. If the president was upset about Gore’s plight, or Jeb’s presence, or the legacy of impeachment, or his imminent move to the New York suburbs, the legendary compartmentalizer hid it well. “This is a great day!” he said. “We should all be very proud.” He used eighteen ceremonial pens to sign the bill, graciously handing the first souvenir to Jeb. Senator Smith quipped that it was lucky Clinton’s name wasn’t Cornelius Snicklefritzer, or else the ceremony might never end. The president threw his head back and laughed. “Wow,” thought his chief of staff, John Podesta, “this is like a Fellini movie.”

If Florida’s political swamp was tearing Americans apart, Florida’s actual swamp had a knack for bringing people together. The same Congress that had been torn in half by Clinton’s impeachment had overwhelmingly approved his plan for the Everglades, after lobbyists for the sugar industry and the Audubon Society walked the corridors of Capitol Hill arm-in-arm. The same Florida legislature that was in turmoil over Bush v. Gore had approved Everglades restoration without a single dissenting vote.

At a press conference after the ceremony, Jeb sidestepped the inevitable Bush v. Gore questions to highlight this unity: “In a time when people are focused on politics, and there’s a little acrimony—I don’t know if y’all have noticed—this is a good example of how, in spite of all that, bipartisanship is still alive.” Reporters shouted follow-ups about the Court, but the governor cut them off with a smile. “No, no, no, no, you’re going the wrong way on that one. We’re here to talk about something that’s going to be long-lasting, way past counting votes. This is the restoration of a treasure for our country.”

The Test

TODAY, EVERYONE AGREES that the Everglades is a national treasure. It’s a World Heritage Site, an International Biosphere Reserve, the most famous wetland on earth. It’s a cultural icon, featured in Carl Hiaasen novels, Spiderman comics, country songs, and the opening credits of CSI: Miami, as well as the popular postcards of its shovel-faced alligators and spindly-legged wading birds. It’s the ecological equivalent of motherhood and apple pie; when an aide on NBC’s The West Wing was asked the most popular thing the president could do for the environment, he immediately replied: “Save the Everglades.”

But there was once just as broad a national consensus that the Everglades was a worthless morass, an enemy of civilization, an obstacle to progress. The first government report on the Everglades deemed it “suitable only for the haunt of noxious vermin, or the resort of pestilential reptiles.” Its explorers almost uniformly described it as a muddy, mushy, inhospitable expanse of razor-edged sawgrass in shallow water—too wet to farm, too dry to sail, too unpredictable to settle. Americans believed it was their destiny to drain this “God-forsaken” swamp, to “reclaim” it from mosquitoes and rattlesnakes, to “improve” it into a subtropical paradise of bountiful crops and booming communities. Wetlands were considered wastelands, and “draining the swamp” was a metaphor for solving festering problems.

The heart of the Everglades was technically a marsh, not a swamp, because its primary vegetation was grassy, not woody; the first journalist to slog through the Everglades called it a “vast and useless marsh.” But it was usually described as a dismal, impenetrable swamp, and even conservationists dreamed of draining it; converting wet land into productive land was considered the essence of conservation. Hadn’t God specifically instructed man to subdue the earth, and take dominion over all the living creatures that moveth upon it? Wasn’t America destined to overpower its wilderness?

This is the story of the Everglades, from useless bog to national treasure, from its creation to its destruction to its potential resurrection. It is the story of a remarkable swath of real estate and the remarkable people it has attracted, from the aboriginals who created the continent’s first permanent settlement in the Everglades, to the U.S. soldiers who fought a futile war of ethnic cleansing in the Everglades, to the dreamers and schemers who have tried to settle, drain, tame, develop, sell, preserve, and restore the Everglades. It’s a story about the pursuit of paradise and the ideal of progress, which once inspired the degradation of nature, and now inspires its restoration. It’s a story about hubris and unintended consequences, about the mistakes man has made in his relationship with nature and his unprecedented efforts to fix them.

*   *   *

THE STORY BEGINS with the natural Everglades ecosystem, which covered most of south Florida, from present-day Orlando all the way down to the Florida Keys. For most of its history, it was virtually uninhabited. As late as 1897, four years after the historian Frederick Jackson Turner declared the western frontier closed, an explorer marveled that the Everglades was still “as much unknown to the white man as the heart of Africa.”

But once white men got to know it, they began to transform it. A Gilded Age industrialist named Hamilton Disston was the first visionary to try to drain the swamp. A brilliant oilman-turned-developer named Henry Flagler considered his own assault on the Everglades while he was laying the foundation for modern south Florida. And an energetic Progressive Era governor named Napoleon Bonaparte Broward vowed to create an Empire of the Everglades with more canals, declaring war on south Florida’s water.

The Everglades turned out to be a resilient enemy, resisting man’s drainage schemes for decades, taking revenge in the form of brutal droughts and catastrophic floods, converting Florida swampland into an enduring real estate punchline. In 1928, a hurricane blasted Lake Okeechobee through its flimsy muck dike and drowned 2,500 people in the Everglades, a ghastly fore-shadowing of Hurricane Katrina’s assault on New Orleans. Mother Nature did not take kindly to man’s attempts to subjugate her.

But the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the ground troops in America’s war against nature, finally conquered the Everglades with one of the most elaborate water-control projects in history, setting the stage for south Florida’s spectacular postwar development. Suburbs such as Weston, Wellington, Plantation, Pembroke Pines, Miami Lakes, and Miami Springs all sprouted in drained Everglades wetlands. So did Miami International Airport, Sawgrass Mills Mall, Florida International University, Burger King corporate headquarters, and a vast agricultural empire that produces one out of every five teaspoons of American sugar. Disney World was built near the headwaters of the Everglades. And some people began to wonder whether the creation of a man-made paradise across Florida’s southern thumb was worth the destruction of a natural one.

So the story of the Everglades is also the story of the transformation of south Florida, from a virtually uninhabited wasteland to a densely populated Fantasyland with 7 million residents, 40 million annual tourists, and the world’s largest concentration of golf courses. “There has never been a more grossly exaggerated region, a more grossly misrepresented region, or one concerning which less has been known than this mighty empire of South Florida,” the Palm Beach Post said in 1924. That’s still about right.

*   *   *

AMERICA’S WAR ON NATURE has left a tattered battlefield in south Florida. Half the Everglades is gone. The other half is an ecological mess. Wading birds no longer darken the skies above it. Algal blooms are exploding in its lakes and estuaries, massacring its dolphins, oysters, and manatees. And it is now clear that the degradation extends beyond noxious vermin and pestilential reptiles, affecting the people of south Florida as well. The aquifers that store their drinking water are under siege. Their paradise has been sullied by sprawl, and by overcrowded schools, hospitals, and highways. Most of them are at risk from the next killer hurricane—and the one after that. It is now almost universally agreed that south Florida’s growth is no longer sustainable.

The Everglades restoration plan that President Clinton signed with Governor Bush at his side is supposed to restore some semblance of the original ecosystem, and guide south Florida toward sustainability. And the Army Corps of Engineers, after decades of helping to destroy the Everglades, will lead the effort to undo some of the damage. “The Everglades is a test,” one environmentalist has written. “If we pass, we may get to keep the planet.”

On that December day at the millennium’s end, Republicans and Democrats described Everglades restoration as the dawn of a new era in conservation—not only for south Florida, but for mankind. Instead of taming rivers, irrigating deserts, and draining swamps, man would restore ravaged ecosystems. Instead of fighting over scarce fresh water—the oil of the twenty-first century—Floridians would demonstrate how to share. The Everglades, Jeb Bush said, would be “a model for the world,” proof that man and nature could live in harmony. America’s politicians would finally pass the Everglades test.

It was a noble sentiment. But man had been flunking that test for a long time.
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There are no other Everglades in the world.

—South Florida author Marjory Stoneman Douglas




“The Place Looked Wild And Lonely”

THE NATURAL EVERGLADES was not quite land and not quite water, but a soggy confusion of the two.

It was a vast sheet of shallow water spread across a seemingly infinite prairie of serrated sawgrass, a liquid expanse of muted greens and browns extending to the horizon. It had the panoramic sweep of a desert, except flooded, or a tundra, except melted, or a wheat field, except wild. It was studded with green teardrop-shaped islands of tangled trees and scraggly shrubs, and specked with white spider lilies and violet-blue pickerelweeds. But mostly it looked like the world’s largest and grassiest puddle, or the flattest and wettest meadow, or the widest and slowest-moving stream. It had the squish and the scruff of an untended yard after a downpour, except that this yard was larger than Connecticut. It wasn’t obviously beautiful, but it was obviously unique. “No country that I have ever heard of bears any resemblance to it,” wrote one of the U.S. soldiers who hunted Seminole Indians in the Everglades in the nineteenth century. “It seems like a vast sea, filled with grass and green trees.”

The Everglades seeped all the way down Florida’s southern thumb, from the giant wellspring of Lake Okeechobee in the center of the peninsula to the ragged mangrove fringes of Florida Bay and the Gulf of Mexico, a sodden savanna more than 100 miles long and as much as 60 miles wide—just grass and water, water and grass, except for the tree islands and wildflowers that dotted the grass, and the lily pads and algal mats that floated on the water. The Seminoles called it Pa-Hay-Okee, or Grassy Water. The American soldiers who trudged through it during the Seminole Wars described it as a grassy lake, a grassy sea, an ocean of grass. The bard of the Everglades, Marjory Stoneman Douglas, later dubbed it the River of Grass. Sawgrass is actually a sedge, not a grass, but the nickname stuck.

The Everglades was relentlessly, remarkably, almost perfectly flat—no majestic canyons, rugged cliffs, or rolling hills, no glaciers, geysers, or craters. Even Everglades National Park’s first superintendent admitted that its landscape lacked a certain flair, calling it “a study in halftones, not bright, broad strokes of a full brush,” summarizing its attractions as “lonely distances, intricate and monotonous waterways, birds, sky and water.” The Everglades was also an incomparably tough slog. It lacked shade and shelter, high ground and dry ground. Breathing its heavy air felt like sucking on cotton. Wading through its hip-deep muck felt like marching in quicksand. Penetrating its dense thickets of sharp-toothed sawgrass felt like bathing in broken glass. And there was something downright spooky about the place, with its bellowing alligators, grunting pigfrogs, and screeching owls—and especially its eerie silences.

“The place looked wild and lonely,” one hunter wrote after an 1885 expedition through the Everglades. “About three o’clock it seemed to get on Henry’s nerves, and we saw that he was crying, he would not tell us why, he was just plain scared.”

The Everglades also teemed with rats, roaches, snakes, scorpions, spiders, worms, deerflies, sand flies, and unfathomably thick clouds of bloodthirsty mosquitoes that flew up nostrils and down throats and into ears. The pioneer Miami naturalist Charles Torrey Simpson loved the Everglades like a son, but he readily acknowledged that “the wilds of Lower Florida can furnish as much laceration and as many annoyances to the square inch as any place I have ever seen.”

“My advice is to urge every discontented man to take a trip through the Everglades,” another explorer wrote. “If it doesn’t kill him, it will certainly cure him.”

*   *   *

BUT THE EVERGLADES was more than a river of grass, and it contained more than swarming bugs, slithering reptiles, and lacerating annoyances.

The river of grass was only the most distinctive link of an interconnected ecosystem that once blanketed almost all of south Florida, from its headwaters atop the Kissimmee Chain of Lakes near modern-day Orlando down to the coral reefs off the Keys, an area twice the size of New Jersey. The ecosystem was a watery labyrinth of lakes and lagoons, creeks and ponds, pine flatwoods and hardwood hammocks. It encompassed Biscayne Bay and Florida Bay, the St. Lucie and Miami Rivers. And in addition to its extensive marshlands, it included genuine swamps, most notably the Big Cypress Swamp, a Delaware-sized mosaic of pinelands, prairies, and black-water bogs just west of the sawgrass Everglades.

Sawgrass could be as uninviting to wildlife as it was to people, but the diverse habitats of the broader Everglades ecosystem—also known as the Kissimmee-Okeechobee-Everglades or south Florida ecosystem—supported an astonishing variety of life, from black bears to barracudas, turkey vultures to vase sponges, zebra butterflies to fuzzy-wuzzy air plants that looked like hairy psychedelic squid. The Everglades had prehistoric-looking wood storks that snapped their beaks shut in three milliseconds, sausage-shaped manatees that devoured 100 pounds of plants a day, mullet that ran in schools three miles long, and four-foot-tall dwarf cypress trees that looked like skeletal bonsai. The Everglades was the only place on earth where alligators (broad snout, fresh water, darker skin) and crocodiles (pointy snout, salt water, toothy grin) lived side by side. It was the only home of the Everglades mink, Okeechobee gourd, and Big Cypress fox squirrel. It had carnivorous plants, amphibious birds, oysters that grew on trees, cacti that grew in water, lizards that changed colors, and fish that changed genders. It had 1,100 species of trees and plants, 350 birds, and 52 varieties of porcelain-smooth, candy-striped tree snails. It had bottlenose dolphins, marsh rabbits, ghost orchids, moray eels, bald eagles, and countless other species that didn’t seem to belong on the same continent, much less in the same ecosystem.

“It is a region so different that it hardly seems to belong to the United States,” said the forester Gifford Pinchot, a founding father of American conservationism. “It is full of the most vivid and most interesting life on land, in the air, and in the water. It is a land of strangeness, separate and apart from the common things we all know so well.”

For all its mystery and monotony, the Everglades ecosystem did have a few awesome attractions. Charles Torrey Simpson was enthralled by its 100-foot-tall royal palms with trunks like cement pillars, standing guard over its golden ocean of sedge and stream: “It is a picture of unsurpassed beauty set in a wonderful frame…. The whole effect is glorious beyond the power of description.” Another visitor adored its profusion of wild orchids, “specimens colorless and full of color, scentless and filled with odor that made the surrounding air heavy with their fragrance: some garbed somberly as a Quakeress, others costumed to rival the Queen of Sheba.” Early explorers were mesmerized by the millions of ibis, egrets, herons, storks, and other wading birds that seemed to darken the skies; the legendary artist and naturalist John J. Audubon nearly swooned after watching a flock of hot-pink flamingos soar over the Everglades. “Ah! Reader, could you but know the emotion that then agitated my breast. I thought I had now reached the height of my experience.” The celebrated zoologist Louis Agassiz was just as fascinated by the luminous coral reefs at the ecosystem’s edge, the only living reefs in North America: “Even a brief description of the immense number of shells, worms, crabs, lobsters, shrimps, crawfishes and fishes seen everywhere upon the reef, would be out of place here. In variety, in brilliancy of color, in elegance of movement, the fishes may well compare with the most beautiful assemblage of birds.”

For the most part, though, the Everglades was less about beauty than subtlety and originality. It was less ooh or aah than hmm. It was a dainty purple gallinute tiptoeing across a lily pad in a predawn mist, or a vast swath of sawgrass arching in the breeze like a congregation at prayer. It was the vines of a strangler fig slowly choking the life out of a cabbage palm, or a split-tailed, red-eyed hawk called the Everglade snail kite scanning a marsh for the apple snails that made up its entire diet. Everglades vistas seemed to shift like a kaleidoscope with subtle changes in the light or the weather. Guidebooks still warn tourists that the Everglades “takes some getting used to,” that it “reveals its secrets slowly,” that its appeal “may escape many visitors at first glance.”

There was always more to the Everglades than met the eye. Take the golden-brown Everglades goop known as periphyton. It was easy to overlook, clumped around aquatic plants like slimy oatmeal sweaters, floating in sloughs like discolored papier-mâché, crumbling into a snowy powder during droughts. But it was the dominant life-form in much of the Everglades, measured by biomass. It was also the base of the Everglades food chain, providing grazing pastures for small fish, prawns, insects, and snails, which became prey for larger fish and birds. Today, microscopes reveal periphyton mats as action-packed worlds unto themselves, teeming with bacteria, diatoms, and single-cell organisms shaped like candles, spaghetti, bricks, nets, tissues, and tunnels—swimming, splitting, and swallowing one another whole.

If the Grand Canyon was a breathtaking painting, the Everglades was a complex drama, and everything in it had a role. The American alligator, the original Everglades engineer, dug muck out of shallow depressions in the marsh during droughts, creating oases for fish and wildlife like the watering holes of the African bush. The red mangrove, the original Everglades developer, trapped sediments in its spidery prop roots until they formed new spits of swampland, while providing shelter for all kinds of estuarine species. Cauliflower clouds, the mountains of the Everglades, printed their reflections on glittering sloughs as they drifted over the marsh, then funneled and blackened into thunderheads that unleashed spectacular torrents of rain. And that clean, fresh, shallow water was the lifeblood of the Everglades, fueling its flora and fauna, recharging its underground aquifers, keeping its wetlands wet. “A certain kind of lure began to dawn on me,” wrote Zane Grey, the best-selling western adventure novelist who was also a record-breaking south Florida snook fisherman. “This is a country that must be understood.”

The First 300 Million Years (Abridged)

THE EVERGLADES IS OFTEN described as an “ancient wilderness,” a “timeless relic,” a “primordial” or “primeval” force of nature that flourished for eons before it was ruined by man. But in geologic time, the Everglades is a newborn. If the history of the earth is condensed to a week, algae started growing Monday, fish started swimming Saturday morning, and birds flew in early Saturday afternoon. The Everglades showed up a half second before midnight, around the time the Egyptians started building pyramids. From the earth’s perspective, the story of the Everglades is a rounding error, a momentary blip.

The story of how the Everglades formed stretches back a bit further. It began with a bang about 300 million years ago, after the fish but before the birds, with the cataclysmic shifts of tectonic plates that crunched the planet’s major landforms into a single supercontinent called Pangaea. About 100 million years later, plates shifted again, Pangaea split up again and North America dragged away a finger-shaped chunk of northwest Africa. That hijacked appendage became the foundation of the Florida peninsula, the Florida Platform, dangling into the waters of the subtropics like a big toe dipped into a warm bath, dividing the Atlantic Ocean from the Gulf of Mexico.

Then things calmed down. And they stayed calm.

Florida has been geologically stable ever since it was kidnapped from Africa, with none of the seismic upheavals that carved out mountains and canyons elsewhere. South Florida has been especially quiet: It was inundated in the Jurassic Period and spent most of the next 150 million years as a sea floor. Dinosaurs reigned and vanished, and mammals inherited the earth, but south Florida remained underwater, slowly building its limestone backbone from the shells and skeletons of dead marine species, and from microscopic pearls of calcium dissolved in the sea itself. The main result of all those dull millennia of stability was that the region ended up extraordinarily flat. Today, a sign in Everglades National Park announces the towering peak of “Rock Reef Pass: Elevation 3 Feet.” One Everglades scientist used to tell the apocryphal story of the cowboy who saw the Grand Canyon and shouted: “Something sure did happen here!” His point was that it wasn’t clear from the topography of the Everglades that anything had ever happened there.

South Florida finally emerged from the ocean during the ice ages, when the polar glaciers expanded and retreated, exposing and reflooding the peninsula while man was evolving from Homo erectus to Homo sapiens. It was only during the last interglacial melt, about 100,000 years ago, that high seas deposited the Biscayne Aquifer, the porous layer of honeycombed limestone that underlies much of the Everglades, and stores much of south Florida’s drinking water in its subterranean notches and channels. The same high seas left behind the Atlantic Coastal Ridge, the five-mile-wide ribbon of limestone that became the eastern rim of the Everglades, rising as high as twenty feet above sea level, a virtual Kilimanjaro by south Florida standards. It now supports downtown Miami, Fort Lauderdale, and West Palm Beach.

In the last ice age, low seas exposed the entire Florida Platform, as well as the land bridge across the Bering Strait that Paleoindians crossed to North America 12,000 years ago. Those hunter-gatherers journeyed down and across the continent to discover a supersized Florida, twice as wide as it appears today. It was cooler and drier, with fewer lakes and rivers. But its windswept prairies and oak savannas would have made the modern Serengeti look like a petting zoo, with fourteen-foot-tall mammoths, fiveton mastodons, sloths the size of elephants, jaguars, wild dogs, and saber-toothed smilodons with nine-inch blades for canines. Most of the world’s large mammals died out after the ice ages—many scientists suspect their extinctions were related to a certain two-legged predator—but Paleoindians still hunted south Florida’s panthers, deer, and ducks, while trolling its waters for oysters, scallops, and fish.

It was only about 5,000 years ago—after prehistoric man was already writing, making pottery, smelting copper, and brewing beer—that seas approached current levels and modern climate conditions prevailed. Sawgrass began to sprout, and dead sawgrass began to decompose into soot-black Everglades muck soils. Geologically, not much had ever happened there, but the ingredients for the Everglades were in place.

*   *   *

THE MOST IMPORTANT ingredient was rain.

South Florida ended up in the Desert Belt, at the latitude of the Sahara and the Arabian. But it is surrounded by cloud-generating water bodies on three sides, with Lake Okeechobee occupying much of the fourth. So instead of a year-round desert climate, south Florida developed a two-tone subtropical climate, a pleasant November-to-May dry season with some of the continent’s warmest winters followed by a muggy June-to-October rainy season with the continent’s wettest summers. On average, south Florida receives about fifty-five annual inches of rain, significantly more than Seattle, although “average” is a misleading concept when there are such dramatic fluctuations between wet and dry seasons and years. Rain falls in bunches below Lake O, most of it in summer afternoon thunderstorms that can feel like an ocean falling from the sky, dumping a foot in a day. South Florida is also the continent’s leading target for tropical hurricanes.

This combination of abundant sunlight and abundant rain was the ultimate recipe for abundant life. Rainy seasons created biological explosions, and the winter dry-downs that followed were just as important, concentrating fish into shallow pools that attracted birds for feeding frenzies. Everglades flora and fauna all adapted to these seesaws between flood and drought; for example, the gambusia’s upturned mouth and the gar’s oxygen-breathing lung helped both fish survive in low water, which helped the mosquitoes that ate gambusia larvae (also known as mosquito fish) and the alligators that fed on gar (also known as alligator gar) survive extended dry spells as well.

Since south Florida was the subtropical extremity of a temperate landmass, its mix of flora and fauna was eclectic as well as abundant. Temperate species from the north, including hawks, raccoons, oaks, bobcats, and white-tailed deer, joined tropical species from the south, including roseate spoonbills that flew in, loggerhead turtles that swam in, tree snails that floated in on branches, mahoganies whose seeds blew in during storms, and cocoplums whose seeds were dropped in by birds. Gators came down from the north; crocs came up from the south. They all came together in the Everglades—and nowhere else.

*   *   *

THE OTHER CRUCIAL INGREDIENT was limestone. The rock beneath the Everglades was exceedingly level, declining as little as two inches per mile, so all that water flowed down the peninsula exceedingly slowly. But the Everglades was not quite as flat as a floor or a cracker or a desk, as it is often described, so its water did flow. It trickled ever so sluggishly down the interior of the peninsula, inexorably carving its tree islands into teardrops that pointed the same direction as its almost imperceptible current. It gathered into sloughs and streams that sometimes vanished in the sawgrass, and sometimes found their way to the sea.

South Florida’s limestone was also exceedingly porous, so the surface water that accumulated during wet times percolated and recharged the aquifers within the rock, maintaining an unusually high water table. If south Florida’s geography made sure it got wet, its geology made sure it stayed wet; in its natural state, 70 percent of the region flooded every year, and 95 percent flooded at least periodically. A man of ordinary height (and extraordinary grit) could have walked the entire length of the Everglades without getting his hair wet, but his ankles might have been underwater the whole time.

In such a level landscape, even a few inches of elevation could transform the scenery. Water-lily sloughs that stayed wet all year long were just slightly lower than sawgrass marshes with ten-month hydroperiods, which were just slightly lower than Muhly-grass marshes with four-month hydroperiods. The slightly higher uplands of the coastal ridge rarely flooded at all, so they supported skinny slash pines with fire-resistant bark. And the different plant assemblies all decomposed into different soils, which corresponded almost precisely with the different rock formations beneath them.

Geology and hydrology were not quite destiny in the Everglades, but they were close.

*   *   *

THE EVERGLADES WAS ALSO MOLDED by an ingredient it lacked: phosphorus. It is a common nutrient in nature, critical to plant development. But the Everglades was phosphorus-starved, so its most successful species adapted to a low-nutrient environment. For example, sawgrass is a brutally efficient scavenger of phosphorus, so it outcompeted other marsh plants in the Everglades. Similarly, the microorganisms in periphyton mats were bound together by an intense affinity for phosphorus.

Nature is often called “fragile,” which is usually wrong; nature is the essence of resilience. But the Everglades was about as fragile as nature gets, in the sense that even minor changes—in chemistry as well as topography or hydrology—made major differences. Tiny additions of phosphorus could transform the marsh, just like tiny bumps in land elevation or tiny dips in water levels. The Everglades was sensitive that way.

But 5,000 years ago, nothing had been added to the Everglades. Its waters were still pristine, and still flowed south without interruption.

The Lay of the Land

THE NATURAL EVERGLADES ECOSYSTEM, in sum, was an extremely flat drainage basin with extremely poor drainage, an unusually wet watershed that was unusually inefficient at shedding its water. A raindrop that fell in its headwaters in central Florida could have taken an entire year to dribble down to its estuaries at the tip of the peninsula. “The water is pure and limpid, and almost imperceptibly moves, not in partial currents, but, as it seems, in a mass, silently and slowly to the southward,” an explorer wrote in 1848. The story of the Everglades, in sum, is the story of that water’s journey, and man’s efforts to reroute it.

The original journey began with the Kissimmee Chain of Lakes, a sparkling string of shallow potholes down the spine of the peninsula, brimming with bass and bluegill that spawned in the bulrush along their edges. The lakes fed the serpentine Kissimmee River, a kind of riparian Lombard Street, zigzagging like a drunken unicyclist down its narrow floodplain, frequently mutinying its banks to nourish its marshes. The Kissimmee basin attracted hordes of migratory waterfowl each winter, and supported a year-round menagerie of wading birds so abundant that one early visitor mistook the beating of their wings against the water for the churning of an approaching steamboat: “They do not attempt to fly until our boats are among them, and then it seems as if pandemonium has broken loose!”

The Kissimmee emptied into the immense saucer of Lake Okeechobee, Seminole for Big Water. Lake O was only twenty feet deep, but it was the largest lake in the South and one of the largest in America, vanishing in the distance with the curvature of the earth. The lake was crammed with bass, catfish, and trout that literally jumped into the canoes of a U.S. naval force that patrolled the lake in 1842; its shores teemed with deer, turtles, and especially birds. “Feasted sumptuously on wild turkey, broiled and fried curlew, plover and teal, stewed crane, [anhingas] and fried fish, our spoils of the day,” the expedition’s leader rejoiced. “The Astor House could not have supplied such a dinner.”

Lake Okeechobee did not have a traditional outlet. The Caloosahatchee River began three miles west of it and drained west to the Gulf; the St. Lucie River began twenty miles east of it and drained east to the Atlantic; neither river carried water out of Lake O. Instead, during summer storms, the lake swelled until it spilled over its lower lip in a tremendous sheet. That was where the river of grass began, sloshing down the spoon-shaped depression between the Atlantic Coastal Ridge and the Big Cypress Swamp.

There was a washboard pattern to the Everglades, with dense sawgrass ridges alternating with open-water sloughs that carried its waters to sea. The widest strip of water draining the marsh, Shark Slough, curved southwest toward the tidal lagoons of the Ten Thousand Islands, a bewildering green archipelago of mangrove keys at the edge of the Gulf. The second largest Everglades outlet, Taylor Slough, headed due south through the sawgrass before melting into the brackish waters of Florida Bay, a triangular wading pool even larger and shallower than Lake Okeechobee, bracketed by the wide arc of the Keys. There were many smaller outlets as well, including Turner, Harney, and Lostman’s Rivers flowing southwest to the Gulf, and “transverse glades” like the Miami, New, and Hillsboro Rivers spilling over or slicing through the coastal ridge on their way southeast to Biscayne Bay.

The Ten Thousand Islands, Florida Bay, Biscayne Bay, and the other coastal estuaries where fresh water from the Everglades mingled with salt water from the sea were the most productive niches of the ecosystem. They sheltered dolphins, manatees, pink shrimp, spiny lobsters, stone crabs, and an almost inconceivable array of fish. “Their number and variety are simply marvelous,” another explorer wrote after visiting Florida Bay. “You can at one glance, through this crystal water, see over fifty varieties. The colors would put to blush the palette of an impressionist.”

In fact, the Everglades estuaries that ringed south Florida were so full of life that they changed the course of human history.

Native Species

YES, MAN WAS NATIVE to the Everglades, too. In fact, the southwest edge of the Everglades may have been man’s first permanent home in North America.

Until 1989, archaeologists believed that all Archaic peoples on the continent were nomadic, that year-round settlements only appeared after the introduction of agriculture. Then a graduate student named Michael Russo excavated Horr’s Island, a squiggle-shaped clump of mangrove keys at the head of the Ten Thousand Islands. Russo found evidence of centuries of permanent occupation by a complex society, including traces of wooden posts used in dwellings and huge shell mounds used for rituals and burials. Russo then carbon-dated the site to the late Archaic period—right when the Everglades and its estuaries were taking form.

Russo’s findings were archaelogical heresy. It seemed inconceivable that primitive hunter-gatherers with the run of the continent would have settled down on a swampy outpost off the tip of Florida, separated from the mainland by ten miles of tangled mangroves and tidal flats, in a humid archipelago where a twentieth-century entomologist would catch a record-breaking 365,696 mosquitoes in one trap in one night. But that’s what happened. Russo revealed why when he dug up the island’s food remains, which included seventy-four varieties of fish and shellfish: Horr’s Island was an all-you-can-eat seafood buffet. The fishing at the edge of the Everglades was so good that its residents did not need to leave in the off-season to find more food, so good that it forced the archaeology establishment to revise its assumptions about Archaic man.

The people of Horr’s Island sometimes ventured offshore to harpoon whales, sharks, marlins, and manatees, paddling canoes they fashioned from hollowed-out cypress logs, but they found most of their food in south Florida’s sheltered near-shore estuaries. They hauled in tiny pinfish, catfish, and herring with nets woven from palm fibers, and gathered mollusks that provided raw material for their shell mounds as well as protein for their diets. They harvested different species in different seasons, like reliable underwater row crops: oysters in winter, scallops in summer, fish all year long. Most of the world’s ancient societies had agricultural origins, but the bountiful fringes of the Everglades, where mangrove roots and seagrass meadows provided shelter and nutrition for hundreds of estuarine species, proved that cultivation was not a prerequisite for civilization.

*   *   *

BY THE TIME EUROPEANS arrived in the sixteenth century, the people of Horr’s Island were gone. The Calusa Indians controlled southwest Florida, and exacted tribute from weaker tribes scattered around the peninsula.

None of these native people were farmers, either. Most were coastal fishermen. Many also maintained hunting camps in Big Cypress uplands or Everglades tree islands, and some may have even lived year-round in drier pockets of the interior—eating more turtles, mammals, and freshwater fish, but thriving just the same. The Europeans marveled at the imposing height, powerful physiques, and rich diets of the Calusa, the ultimate tribute to the bounty of the Everglades. Hernando d’Escalante Fontaneda, a Spanish shipwreck survivor who spent seventeen years as a Calusa prisoner, called his captors “men of strength” in his memoirs. “The people are great anglers, and at no time lack fresh fish,” he wrote.

Fontaneda catalogued the marine cuisine of the Glades Indians, including lobsters, oysters, manatees, “enormous trout, nearly the size of men,” and eels as thick as thighs. He also noted that the Tequesta Indians, who occupied the high ground of the Atlantic ridge, collected nuts and fruits and made bread out of “coontie,” a starchy root abundant in the pinelands. They hunted deer, birds, snakes, alligators, “a certain animal that looks like a fox, yet is not,” presumably raccoons, “an animal like a rat,” probably opossum, “and many more wild animals, which, if we were to continue enumerating, we should never be through.”

The Indians of the Everglades had enough food that they didn’t need to spend every waking moment hunting and gathering; they had plenty of time for construction, religion, and art. The Calusa built enormous mounds from their discarded clam, conch, and oyster shells, including the 150-acre island of Chokoloskee, and topped them with palmetto-thatched homes. They crafted hammers, bowls, toys, and pendants out of wood, shell, and bone. They attended rituals in elaborate costumes, and sculpted ceremonial masks and statuettes depicting turtles, pelicans, panthers, and gators. One archaeologist was amazed by the “startling fidelity” of the inner ears, hair tufts, and other details he found on a Calusa deer carving: “The muzzle, nostrils and especially the exquisitely modeled and painted lower jaw were so delicately idealized that it was evident the primitive artist who fashioned this masterpiece loved, with both ardor and reverence, the animal he was portraying.”

The Glades Indians have often been romanticized as wild savages with hip-length hair and skimpy clothes, worshipping natural creatures and living in harmony with the land. The Calusa certainly were fierce warriors—“Calusa” meant “fierce”—and it is true that they did not overdress in the heat. “The men onely use deere skins, wherewith some onely cover their privy members,” gasped a British observer named John Sparke. But the Glades Indians were sophisticated people, and they did not follow the Leave No Trace ethic of the outdoors. They built impressive engineering projects that molded nature to their needs—not just the shell mounds that still dot the Gulf coast, but seawalls, jetties, weirs, fish traps, and reservoirs. They dug canals to create canoe routes to their hunting grounds, including a three-mile cut from the Caloosahatchee River to Lake Okeechobee that would be reopened centuries later for one of the first Everglades drainage ditches. The Calusa burned prairies to attract deer, chopped down cypress trees for their canoes, butchered the animals they idealized in their art, and preyed on baby fish that would be untouchable under modern catch-and-release rules. Native people had an impact on the Everglades environment, just as gators did when they dug their holes, or birds did when they ate seeds in the tropics and deposited them in south Florida.

But the natives had an extremely modest impact. For one thing, there weren’t many of them—perhaps 20,000 in south Florida at the time of European contact. They did not slaughter for sport, and their way of life was sustainable without the hunting limits, pollution controls, water restrictions, and wetlands protections associated with modern eco-sensitivity. It wasn’t necessarily an admirable lifestyle—Calusa chiefs performed human sacrifices, married their sisters, kidnapped additional wives from conquered villages, and murdered subjects who tried to snoop around their secret meetings with gods—but there is no evidence that it significantly depleted the region’s natural resources. “In view of the fact that they lived there for about 2,000 years, the Calusa left surprisingly little impress upon the development of the area,” one historian wrote.

The Everglades was still the Everglades before white men arrived.








Two

The Intruders




We appeal to the Great Father, who has so often promised us protection and friendship, to shield us from the wrongs his white children seem determined to inflict upon us.

—Seminole Indian chief John Hicks




A Hostile Territory

JOHN SPARKE, the British observer who described the near-nudity of Florida’s Indians, was right about their deerskins and privy members. But the most illuminating parts of Sparke’s account of his 1565 voyage to Florida were the parts he got wrong. He thought Florida was an island, “very scant of fresh water.” He reported rumors of “a serpent with three heads and foure feet, of the bignesse of a great spaniel.”

“It is thought that there are lions and tygres as well as unicornes, lions especially, if it be true that is sayd, of the enmity between them and the unicornes,” Sparke wrote. He revealed the source of this ignorance in a later passage on Florida’s birds: “Concerning them on the land I am not able to name them, because my abode there was so short.”

This is a common thread in early European accounts of south Florida: They offered dead-on depictions of the coast, and wild speculation about the interior. One Spaniard perfectly described the “islands surrounded by swamplands” at the edge of the Gulf, then lapsed into fantasies of kangaroos, emerald deposits, and mountain ranges further inland, “the emeralds being common near the mountains.” That’s because he never made it past the Calusa, or the coast.

*   *   *

A MIDDLE-AGED SPANISH CONQUISTADOR named Juan Ponce de León was the first white intruder in Florida, and he learned the hard way that it was hostile territory.

Ponce had accompanied Christopher Columbus to the New World, where he had brutally suppressed revolts by Indian slaves and greedily exploited Indian mineworkers. He had become governor of Puerto Rico, then wrangled a charter to colonize Bimini, a Caribbean island rumored to contain fabulous wealth, as well as a magical river that restored youth. Ponce certainly hoped to find the wealth; his charter specified “gold and other metals and profitable things.” He may have sought the Fountain of Youth as well; historians tend to scoff at this notion, but at a time when adventurers believed in three-headed serpents and unicorns, it’s certainly possible. In any case, Ponce didn’t find Bimini. In 1513, in the Easter season—Pascua Florida—he found what he thought was another balmy Caribbean island, and named it Florida. Ponce didn’t find fabulous wealth or eternal youth, either. He found trouble.

After landing near Cape Canaveral on the Atlantic coast, Ponce sailed around the peninsula to Charlotte Harbor on the Gulf coast, where a Calusa messenger promised him gold for trade—moments before twenty canoes full of war-whooping Indians swooped in to attack his caravels. The Spaniards fought them off with artillery, and Ponce sent two Indian prisoners to the chief with a message of peace. They returned with another promise of trade—and then another ambush, this time with eighty canoes. “The natives of the land [were] a very austere and very savage and belligerous and fierce and untamed people and not accustomed to a peaceful existence nor to lay down their liberty so easily,” one Spaniard wrote. This was not the bucolic island of submissive natives that Ponce had envisioned, and he left in frustration.

Ponce returned eight years later with 200 men to try to settle the area, but the Calusa welcomed him with another ambush at Charlotte Harbor. This time, they shot him in the thigh with an arrow dipped in the poisonous sap of the Everglades manchineel tree. Ponce had to retreat to Havana, where he died of his wounds. The Calusa remained untamed, and so did the Everglades.

A Doomed Marriage

THE NEXT CONQUISTADOR who tried to colonize south Florida was Pedro Menéndez de Avilés, who is best known—but still not very well known—for founding America’s oldest settlement at St. Augustine in north Florida, fifty-five years before the better-publicized Pilgrims landed at Plymouth Rock. Menéndez was a fearless seaman who rose from modest origins to lead the fabled Spanish armada. He was a muscular, strange-looking man, with oversized ears, an undersized mouth, and a long, crooked nose; in a Titian portrait, his dark eyes give a hint of his fanatic intensity and his considerable self-regard.

In 1564, a group of French Lutherans set up camp in north Florida, threatening Spanish hegemony over the territory and its trade routes. It was the Age of Exploration as well as the height of the Inquisition, and Menéndez persuaded King Philip II that an influx of Spanish Catholics in Florida could serve as bulwarks against colonial rivals and Protestant heretics in the New World. In an early example of Florida boosterism, he also predicted the colony would produce sugar, wheat, cattle, silk, and “endless supplies of fruit” even more valuable than the precious metals Cortés and Pizarro had plundered from Mexico and Peru. Finally, Menéndez also hoped to find a cross-peninsula waterway linking the Atlantic to the Gulf, a shortcut to bypass the reefs, shoals, and pirates that had scuttled so many Spanish ships and sailors—including his only son—in the Florida Straits.

So Menéndez set sail for Florida with supplies that included 3,182 hundredweight of biscuits, eight church bells, and 1,758 cannonballs. Shortly after he dropped anchor in St. Augustine Bay to prepare for the climactic battle, a hurricane destroyed the French fleet on the open seas. God was clearly on Spain’s side, and Menéndez showed his gratitude by slaughtering the “evil and detestable” Protestants and burning their prayerbooks. “At them!” he shouted during one rout. “God is helping! Victory! The French are killed!”

His captives begged for mercy, but Menéndez coldly replied that he was waging a war of fire and blood. He spared only twelve musicians and four repentant Catholics out of 150 prisoners, then butchered another 200 Frenchmen at an inlet the Spaniards proudly named Matanzas, for massacre. “They came and surrendered their arms to me, and I had their hands tied behind them, and put them all, excepting ten, to the knife,” he told the king. His contemporary biographer praised his mercy, since “by every right he could have burnt them alive.”

*   *   *

AFTER SUBDUING THE FRENCH in north Florida, Florida’s new adelantado turned his attention to the Calusa in south Florida. Menéndez brought gifts to their headquarters on Mound Key near the mouth of the Caloosahatchee: silk breeches, a shirt, and a hat for the strapping young chief Carlos; gowns and mirrors for his wives. Menéndez then invited Carlos to board his galleon for a feast of fish, oysters, and wine. Resplendent in war paint, egret plumes, and a golden forehead ornament, Carlos presented Menéndez with a large bar of silver recovered from a Spanish shipwreck, and grasped his hand in friendship.

But Carlos had foolishly surrendered his manpower advantage by coming aboard with only a few guards; the Spaniards had a strong firepower advantage. Spanish soldiers with matchlit muskets quietly surrounded the Indians, and Menéndez informed Carlos that they would become great friends once he released the Spanish captives he had seized from nearby wrecks—but that he could not leave the ship until then. The captives, including the diarist Hernando d’Escalante Fontaneda, were released.

Carlos wasn’t always foolish. He invited Menéndez to celebrate their new alliance in his palm-thatched banquet hall, in front of 1,000 braves and bare-breasted women, and declared that he now considered the adelantado his brother. He then offered Menéndez his homely older sister’s hand in marriage. To be consummated immediately.

But I can only be with a Christian, Menéndez stammered.

You’re my brother, Carlos replied, so we’re all Christians now!

It’s not so simple, Menéndez said. He began an impromptu lecture about Christian duties, but Carlos was in no mood for theology. We understand, he said: Your food and music are better than ours, and we’re sure your religion is, too. But if you don’t sleep with my sister right now, Carlos warned, my people will be scandalized.

It was an awkward situation: Menéndez was married to a sister of the expedition’s official historian. But according to his understanding brother-in-law, his aides practically forced him to commit bigamy in order to build trust, win converts, and ensure Spanish control of south Florida: “The Adelantado showed much [desire] to try some other expedient, but as none could be found, it was decided that thus it should be done.” The chief’s sister was baptized as Antonia, and the new allies all partied together until 2 A.M. Antonia was “very joyful” the next morning, so Menéndez apparently did his part, too.

*   *   *

BUT MENÉNDEZ LEFT WITHOUT his new bride, dispatching her to Havana to receive a Christian education while he attended to famines and mutinies elsewhere in his territory. And the next time he visited Havana, he did not even intend to see her. To Menéndez, the marriage was pure realpolitik, but Antonia was heartsick. She had memorized prayers and mastered Christian doctrine, even while her entourage was dying of colonial diseases.

Menéndez realized that an unhappy Antonia endangered his mission, so he finally showed up with fancy clothes and necklaces, fibbing that he hadn’t visited earlier because knights of his order were not allowed to sleep with their wives for eight days after battle. Antonia was not appeased: “She told him she wished that God might kill her, because when they landed the Adelantado had not sent for her.” That night, Antonia snuck into her husband’s room holding a candle. Please, she sobbed, let me lie in a corner of your bed. Then my brother won’t think you’re laughing at me, and he’ll become a true friend of the Christians, or a Christian like me. Menéndez laughed and sent her off with more baubles. He then sailed her back to Carlos, promising to return to build a home where they could all live together as Christians. “She was very sorrowful because he didn’t stay eight days and sleep with her,” the historian wrote.

Carlos was insulted, too, and Menéndez did not ease his hostility by badgering him to cut his hair and bring his tribe to Christ. Carlos considered Menéndez a vital ally against the Tocobaga people in Tampa Bay as well as his internal Calusa rivals, so he agreed. But he said he first needed nine months to prepare his people to renounce their rituals, or else they would revolt. Menéndez decided that Carlos could not be trusted.

The feeling was mutual. By 1567, when Menéndez returned to south Florida for the last time, the alliance of expedience was as fragile as his marriage of expedience. One missionary complained that Indians only attended his lectures for the free food, and then had the impudence to question his Christian logic: “When I showed them clearly and to their face the falsity and deception of their idols, they threw up to me our adoration of the cross.” He said Carlos remained “very much involved in his idolatries and strongly attached to his witchcrafts and superstitions,” as well as his multiple wives.

Carlos did agree to accompany Menéndez on a peace mission to Tampa Bay, but they had a rather significant difference of opinion about the purpose of the voyage: As they approached the tribe’s village by moonlight, Carlos proposed that they burn it down and kill all the inhabitants. Menéndez refused. Then let me do it myself, Carlos pleaded. The adelantado would not budge. Carlos wept with rage, and if Menéndez thought his scorned wife would appreciate his peacekeeping, he was deeply mistaken.

You have two hearts, Antonia cried. One for the Tocobaga, and one for yourself, but none for me or my brother. The marriage was over.

The father of Florida returned to Spain, where he died still clinging to his dreams of colonial grandeur. “After the salvation of my soul, there is nothing I desire more than to be in Florida,” Menéndez wrote in his final letter. St. Augustine continued to flourish, but his southwest Florida colony collapsed after he left. Carlos repeatedly attacked the Spaniards, until they killed him and installed a rival on the throne. They soon murdered the rival as well, so the Calusa torched their own village and fled to the sodden interior.

By 1570, the Spaniards in south Florida were missionaries without a mission. They conceded failure and returned to north Florida. Menéndez’s nephew reported to the king that south Florida was “liable to be overflowed, and of no use.” The cross-Florida waterway had turned out to be as fanciful as the Fountain of Youth. And the Calusa had “a blood lust for killing Christians, for they lose no opportunity they see.”

His advice: Stay away from south Florida.

*   *   *

FOR THE NEXT THREE CENTURIES, most white men did.

Florida became a pawn on the global chessboard, a blood-soaked outpost in wars of European conquest. But the fighting was all in north Florida. Spanish settlers fought off the British in the War of the Spanish Succession, the French in the War of the Quadruple Alliance, and the British again in the War of Jenkins’ Ear. Nothing changed. Spain did surrender Florida to the British after the French and Indian War, but regained it after the American Revolution. It didn’t matter. The Spaniards weren’t doing much with it.

Florida was still an expendable backwater, still almost entirely in its natural state. A British visitor noted that Florida’s inhabitants, “soldiers and savages excepted, would make but a thin congregation in a small parish-church.” And south Florida was its most isolated outpost, the backwater of the backwater. It was obvious that the region was useless, and the Europeans were not inclined to try to make it useful. Once again, the Calusa had south Florida to themselves.

But not for long. The Calusa lacked immunity to measles, smallpox, and other Old World diseases, so their occasional exposure to Spanish fishermen and traders produced virulent epidemics. Raids by British-backed Indian rivals further decimated their numbers. When Spain ceded Florida to the British in 1763, Florida’s last eighty Calusa families fled to Havana. The native people of the Glades were gone.

The Wild Ones

IN MODERN SOUTH FLORIDA, where just about everyone comes from somewhere else, it turns out that even the Native Americans are out-of-state transplants. Today, the Seminole Indians and their Miccosukee relatives are known as the people of the Everglades. But they didn’t start out anywhere near there. They were driven there.

Seminoles began streaming into north Florida from Georgia and Alabama during the eighteenth century, just as the Calusa were dying out. They had little in common with the Calusa. They were known as cimarrones—“breakaways,” or “wild ones”—because most of them split off from the Creek Confederation, and they retained their Creek traditions, worshipping the Breathmaker at annual Green Corn harvest ceremonies. They were farmers and traders as well as hunters and fishermen; they were also some of America’s first cowboys. They visited the Everglades to hunt, but by 1800, their permanent villages only stretched as far south as Tampa Bay. When a Seminole chief issued his famous vow to remain in Florida—“Here our navel strings were first cut, and the blood from them sunk into the earth, and made the country dear to us”—he meant north Florida.

North Florida was an ideal setting for the Seminoles, a fertile extension of the Deep South. In 1791, the botanist William Bartram described a prosperous Seminole community near Gainesville in his Travels, the classic Romantic narrative that introduced Florida to the world and inspired Coleridge’s “Kubla Khan.” Travels is mostly remembered for its breathless descriptions of flora and fauna, but Bartram was also enchanted by the Seminoles, a people “as blithe and free as the birds of the air.” He attributed their rosy outlook to the “superabundance of the necessaries and conveniences of life” in Florida: “They seem to be free from want or desires. No cruel enemy to dread, nothing to give them disquietude, but the gradual encroachments of the white people.”

Bartram significantly underestimated the disquietude those encroachments would cause. The Seminoles clashed constantly with whites along the Georgia and Alabama borders, sometimes over cattle, usually over runaway slaves who sought refuge with the tribe. Seminoles kept black slaves, but treated them more like sharecroppers; they raised their own crops, inter-married, and often became full-fledged tribesmen. For white settlers who already coveted Indian land, the threat of a savage tribe becoming a magnet for escaped slaves was an excellent excuse for an invasion. In 1811, Georgia militiamen in the so-called “Patriot Army” began crossing the border to attack the Indians in Spanish Florida, who responded with scalping raids into U.S. territory. Reports of their “uncommon cruelty and barbarism” soon made their way to General Andrew Jackson, America’s boldest Indian fighter.

*   *   *

TO OLD HICKORY—or Sharp Knife, as he was known to many Indians after his exploits in the Creek War—the insolence of the Seminoles was unacceptable, and their residence in Spanish territory was irrelevant. In modern terms, Jackson believed Spain was harboring terrorists; he told Secretary of War John Calhoun that as long as Indians were using Florida as a sanctuary to kill American frontiersmen, the U.S. Army had a duty to “follow the marauders and punish them in their retreat.” In 1818, Jackson led a scorched-earth march through north Florida designed to “chastise a savage foe, combined with a lawless band of negro brigands.” He seized their herds and razed their farms, then commandeered two Spanish forts for good measure. Jackson claimed the right of national self-defense to justify his invasion, but he also described Florida as a natural extension of America, like a paw to a panther. “I view the Possession of the Floridas essential to the peace & security of the frontier, and the future welfare of our country,” Jackson wrote to President James Monroe.

Jackson’s intrusions sparked international and congressional furors, with critics attacking Jackson as a budding Napoleon, and dismissing Florida as a worthless prize. One congressman argued that Florida was not essential to security, welfare, or anything else: “It is a land of swamps, of quagmires, of frogs and alligators and mosquitoes! A man, sir, would not immigrate into Florida…no, not from hell itself!”

But most Americans shared Jackson’s disdain for diplomatic niceties, and his faith that Florida was destined to join the U.S. juggernaut. The push to annex Florida was an early flowering of the doctrine that it was America’s “manifest destiny to overspread the continent,” famously articulated twenty-five years later to push the annexations of Texas, Oregon, and California. One senator called the Florida appendage “a natural and necessary part of our empire…joined to us by the hand of the Almighty.” A Kentucky journal declared that Florida “as naturally belong[s] to us as the county of Cornwall does to England.” America’s right to expand was like the right of a tree to the air above it, or the right of a stream to its channel—a natural right, granted by God, as inevitable as the sunrise. At first, the Monroe administration tried to distance itself from Jackson’s foreign adventure, but Secretary of State John Quincy Adams soon negotiated a treaty with Spain that ratified the facts on the ground, transferring Florida to the United States for $5 million. “This rendered it still more unavoidable that the remainder of the continent shall ultimately be ours,” Adams wrote.

In 1821, Monroe appointed Jackson to be Florida’s first American governor. Sharp Knife’s victory seemed complete. The First Seminole War had extended the frontier to the south, and inaugurated the expansionism that would become standard American policy, outlasting the presidencies of Monroe, Adams, and Jackson himself.

The only hitch was that the Seminoles remained in Florida.

The Drive to the South

EARLY AMERICANS WERE as certain as Menéndez that God was on their side, and against native heathens. The New England colonist John Winthrop saw an Indian smallpox epidemic as proof of heavenly intervention: “God hath consumed the natives with a miraculous plagey.” Ben Franklin viewed Indian alcoholism as similar evidence of “the design of Providence to extirpate these savages.” In the nineteenth century, these twin beliefs in white supremacy and Manifest Destiny inspired the ethnic cleansing—and often the genocide—of native tribes. For white Americans who believed that they were a chosen people and America their promised land, any fraudulent treaty or land grab could be justified by their moral obligation to overwhelm the red-skinned barbarians who stood in the path of Christian civilization. And if their lofty ambitions happened to coincide with their land hunger and greed, well, what better validation of God’s plan?

In Florida, once Americans ousted the Spaniards, it never occurred to them to let the Seminoles keep their land. “To have acquired a territory of such extent, to be left in possession of these Indians, was too absurd to merit one moment’s consideration,” one officer explained. Whites wanted to cultivate north Florida, so the Seminoles would have to move to the unknown, unwanted south. Letting them remain would have implied that Indians had rights, that America had limits, that primitive hunter-gatherers could take precedence over civilized farmers. The next thing you know, one politician warned, “the progress of mankind is arrested, and you condemn one of the most beautiful and fertile tracts of the earth to perpetual sterility as the hunting ground of a few savages.” Actually, the Seminoles were not primitive hunter-gatherers at all; they were successful farmers, which was why their decidedly unsterile land had attracted such ravenous attention in the first place. But Americans weren’t about to let such inconvenient facts get in the way of God’s design for man’s progress. Even the Cherokees, with their literate, agrarian society and their democratic constitution, were forced west on the Trail of Tears.

The task of forcing the Seminoles toward the Everglades was assigned to James Gadsden, a tough-minded Jackson protégé who would later negotiate the Gadsden Purchase in the Southwest as a diplomat. In Florida, though, his job was dictation, not diplomacy. He informed the Indians that if they did not move south, Sharp Knife would crush them again. “The hatchet is buried; the muskets, the white men’s arms, are stacked in peace,” he warned. “Do you wish them to remain so?” The chief Neamathla begged Gadsden not to force the Seminoles into the Everglades, where the soil was flooded and trees were scarce: “We rely on your justice and humanity. We hope you will not send us south to a country where neither the hickory nut, the acorn, nor the persimmon grows.”

The Treaty of Moultrie Creek did not force the Seminoles all the way to the sawgrass Everglades, but it did confine them to four million marshy acres in central Florida, at the fringes of the Everglades ecosystem. Only Neamathla and his subchiefs received tracts in north Florida, thinly disguised bribes to sign the treaty. For surrendering their claim to the rest of Florida, the Seminoles were promised less than a penny per acre. Gadsden candidly described the deal in a letter to Secretary Calhoun: “It is not necessary to disguise the fact to you, that the treaty effected was in a degree a treaty of imposition. The Indians would never have voluntarily assented to the terms had they not believed that we had both the power and disposition to compel obedience.”

The Seminoles were now dependent on the Americans, who were stingy with rations, and on the new reservation, an agricultural wasteland. “The best of the Indian lands is worth but little,” a Florida official admitted. “Nineteen-twentieths of their whole country within the present boundary is by far the poorest and most miserable region I ever beheld.” The chief John Hicks warned a surveyor in the area that his mules might make a tasty meal for hungry braves, since twenty-three Seminoles had already starved to death. “I was in several of their houses & saw nothing except two or three pounds of venison & briar root soup & bread,” the surveyor reported. “I am confident of Hicks’ statement being true with respect to their starving situation.”

Calhoun had predicted that the treaty would pacify Florida for years. But the ink had barely dried before white frontiersmen began seizing slaves from Seminoles, and famished Seminoles began plundering cattle from whites. The settlers began clamoring for the return of all blacks living with the Indians, even though the tribe had purchased many of them legally from the settlers. Florida’s legislative council also passed An Act to Prevent the Indians from Roaming at Large, sentencing any Seminole caught off the reservation to thirty-nine lashes. “We were promised justice, and we want to see it!” protested a tribal spokesman named Jumper. “We have submitted to one demand after another, in the hope that they would cease, but it seems that there will be no end to them, as long as we have anything left that the white people may want!”

He was right. There were only 4,000 Seminoles in Florida, but that was 4,000 too many for Florida’s settlers. And the new president, one Andrew Jackson, intended to remove them.

Sharp Knife and the Bad Bird

JACKSON HAD COMPLEX ATTITUDES toward Indians. He had raised a Creek orphan as a son, and expressed genuine concern for the red man’s survival. But he also saw Indians as inferior beings, and his concern for American security always outweighed his concern for their welfare. He honestly believed that eastern tribes would be overwhelmed by land-hungry frontiersmen unless they moved west of the Mississippi River, but it was no coincidence that the frontiersmen favored his solution as well. His administration would ultimately acquire about 100 million acres of Indian land, driving about 100,000 Indians west—some with high-minded words on parchment, some with guns and bayonets.

In Florida, Jackson’s push for Indian removal inspired the same legislative council that had tormented the Seminoles to petition Congress to ease their suffering—by expelling them from the state. The council’s pitch brimmed with crocodile-tears compassion for the Indians: “The Treaty of 1823 deprived them of their cultivated fields and of a region of country fruitful of game, and has placed them in a wilderness where the earth yields no corn, and where even the precarious advantages of the chase are in a great measure denied them.” The council neglected to mention who had deprived them of those cultivated fields, and who now occupied that fruitful country. Still, Jackson agreed to send Gadsden back to Florida, this time to force the Seminoles to move west instead of south, and to rejoin their enemies in the Creek Nation—once again, for their own good.

Gadsden persuaded several chiefs to sign treaties agreeing to leave Florida, but they were obtained by bribery, intimidation, and fraud, and the tribe renounced them. “My people cannot say they will go,” Jumper told the tribe’s government agent, Wiley Thompson. “If their tongues say yes, their hearts cry no, and call them liars.”

*   *   *

JUMPER WAS ONE of the Seminoles whose tongues had said yes, before a charismatic young brave named Osceola swayed the tribe against emigration with taunts, threats, and patriotic appeals.

Osceola, a mixed-blood Alabama Creek who was driven south by Jackson’s army as a child, was not an actual chief. But he had a chief’s aura, with a wiry, athletic build, regal cheekbones, feminine lips, and fiery eyes. One U.S. officer, swept up in the Romanticism of the day, marveled at the “indomitable firmness” of Osceola’s body, describing his “beautiful development of muscle and power” as “something of the Apollo and Hercules blended.” He was a brilliant ballplayer, a superior wrestler, a natural leader. He could be charming in white society, and refused to target women or children in battle, but his resentments burned deep. “I will make the white man red with blood, then blacken him in the sun and rain, where the wolf shall smell his bones, and the buzzard live on his flesh!” he once shouted in council. The legend that Osceola furiously stabbed a treaty of removal may not be true—although there is a slash mark on the document—but he undoubtedly radicalized his fellow warriors and stiffened the spines of his elders.

Thompson, a former general in the Georgia militia, warned Osceola and his fellow Seminoles that their intransigence would not stand. He called them fools, old women, and deluded children, and told them their only choice was whether they wanted to go west over land or water. In March 1835, he read them a typically condescending message from President Jackson, their “Great White Father” in Washington:

My children: I have never deceived, nor will I ever deceive, any of the red people. I tell you that you must go, and that you will go. Even if you had a right to stay, how could you live where you now are? You have sold all your country. You have not a piece as large as a blanket to sit down upon. What is to support yourselves, your women and your children?…Should you listen to the bad birds that are always flying about you, and refuse to remove, I have directed the commanding officer to remove you by force.


When many Seminoles still refused to leave, Thompson theatrically crossed their names off his list of chiefs, withheld their traditional gifts, and barred them from buying rifles or powder. He later clapped Osceola in irons, the ultimate humiliation for an Indian.

At first, Osceola tore his hair, refused to eat, and screamed like a caged beast. But then he calmed down, apologized, and signed a pledge to move west. Thompson set him free after six days, and he seemed like a new man, bantering with U.S. soldiers, even bringing in his followers to register for emigration. Thompson was so grateful that he gave Osceola a silver-plated rifle. The wildest savage had been tamed, and peaceful removal seemed imminent. “The Seminole of the present day is a different being from the warlike son of the forest when the tribe was numerous and powerful, and no trouble in the removal of the remnant of the tribe is anticipated,” said the St. Augustine Herald. General Alexander Macomb, the commander of the U.S. Army, bragged that he had trounced tribes far more imposing than the Seminoles: “I cannot see that any danger can be apprehended from the miserable Indians who inhabit the peninsula of Florida.”

The Passions of a People

OSCEOLA HAD NOT BEEN TAMED. He had only played the penitent to get out of jail.

In November 1835, Osceola and his followers surrounded a Seminole chief named Charley Emathla, who had sold his cattle to move west. When Emathla refused to renounce emigration, Osceola killed him, flinging his cattle money on top of his corpse. The Seminoles fled into the wilderness, and the frontier erupted in panic. “I have no doubt that the object of the whole body of the disaffected is to retire to the wild region of the peninsula of Florida, in the neighborhood of what is called the Everglades,” Agent Thompson warned. He was right, if a bit premature.

A month later, while Thompson was smoking a cigar on an after-dinner stroll, Osceola sprang out of hiding and shot him fourteen times with his new silver-plated rifle. The same day, Major Francis Dade was leading a march in central Florida when a band of war-whooping Seminoles leapt out of the tall grass and piney woods, slaughtering Dade and all but three of his 108 men. “The passions of a people, which had been smothered for fifteen years, descending from sire to son, were let loose, and the savage massacres which had appalled the stoutest heart gave undisputed evidence of the character of the contest,” an American officer wrote. The Second Seminole War, also known as the Florida War—America’s longest, bloodiest, and costliest Indian conflict—was under way.

Osceola brought Thompson’s dripping scalp to a drunken victory celebration, and the Seminoles took turns mocking his patronizing speeches. It no longer mattered that their region was poor and miserable, that it lacked hickory nuts and persimmons. They were tired of being pushed around, and determined to fight for their adopted homeland. In Seminole cosmology, west was the direction of death, the path of the setting sun, and Osceola was not going to let his people go voluntarily. He sent a message to General Duncan Clinch, the U.S. commander in Florida: “You have guns, and so have we. You have powder and lead, and so have we. Your men will fight, and so will ours, until the last drop of Seminole blood has moistened the dust of his hunting ground.”

*   *   *

THIS TIME, WHITES HAD superior manpower as well as firepower; 40,000 federal regulars and state militiamen would cycle through Florida, while the Seminoles had no way of reinforcing their original 1,000 warriors. But those “miserable Indians” knew their way around the boggy peninsula, especially their Everglades hunting grounds.

For the Americans, by contrast, the Florida peninsula was still terra incognita, known mostly as a protrusion into shipping lanes. In 1835, the United States was a fast-growing nation of more than 15 million people, but fewer than 50,000 of them lived in Florida, and almost all of those pioneers lived in north Florida or the island of Key West. South Florida was still such a mystery that the military distributed maps of the state with the bottom halves blank, “so officers may make additions thereto as they may by their knowledge of the country.” One army engineer scoffed at the notion of Lake Okeechobee, insisting that “there is, however, no such Lake in existence, and its position on the maps has been owing to the misapprehension of the Spanish and English geographers.” A newspaper described the St. Lucie River, more than 100 miles north of modern-day Miami, as “beyond the ultimate limits of population on the Atlantic border.”

The Everglades was still little more than an ugly rumor. In 1823, a British engineer named Charles Vignoles first identified an “extensive inundated Region covered with Pine and Hummock Islands of all sizes and generally called THE EVERGLADES.” But Vignoles was frustrated in his own efforts to penetrate that inundated region, admitting that “the dissatisfied traveler has been sent back unable to complete the object of his mission, and confused in his effort to tread the mazes of this labyrinth of morasses.” At the outset of the Florida War, U.S. naval forces faced similar confusion. Lieutenant Levi Powell led one foray into the Everglades, but his keelboats got stuck in the sawgrass. “I found it impracticable to navigate the glades,” he reported. “We reluctantly commenced our return to camp.”

For the Seminoles, that labyrinth of morasses was camp, an inaccessible refuge from their persecutors. General Zachary Taylor admitted that “the everglades may be impenetrable to the white man, while they can be penetrated by the hostiles.” Taylor’s exploits in Florida earned him the nickname “Old Rough and Ready,” and helped launch his path to the presidency, but he spoke for many military men when he mused that if the Seminoles wanted the Everglades, they should be allowed to keep it. “I would not trade one foot of Michigan or Ohio for a square mile of Florida swamp,” he wrote.

But Taylor’s bosses believed America had a duty to drive the Seminoles out of Florida. They vowed to fight for every square inch of the swamp.








Three

Quagmire




Florida is certainly the poorest country that ever two people quarreled for.

—U.S. Army surgeon Jacob Motte




Catching Water in a Net

GENERAL WINFIELD SCOTT, the big, blustery, impeccably tailored commander who replaced General Clinch a few months after the Dade massacre, figured it would take no more than a few weeks to force the Seminoles to surrender. “Old Fuss and Feathers” had studied infantry tactics in France, and he knew exactly how to fight gentlemanly armies who presented themselves for battle before opening fire. Scott arrived at the front with a large library, fine wines, and a military band that played at his meals, advertising his position to the Indians. He devised an elaborate plan to march three synchronized columns down the peninsula to surround the Seminoles in a pincer attack, tactics better suited to a game of Stratego than the swamps of Florida. “To surround what?” President Jackson snorted when he heard the plan. “The Indians? No.”

Scott had been a hero in the War of 1812, and would be again in the Mexican War. But he had no idea how to fight an unconventional war in an unmapped territory that one soldier described as “swampy, hammocky, low, excessively hot, sickly and repulsive in all its features.” Scott never imagined that his troops, horses, and wagons would get bogged down in the muck, or that Indians on the warpath would hit and run rather than stand and fight, scattering into the Everglades instead of clumping together in tidy formations.

Scott’s columns never did converge on the Seminoles. Instead, his men spent months trudging through trackless wetlands and woodlands in shredded boots and soaked clothes, rarely encountering the enemy except when stumbling into ambushes. The Seminoles, Scott complained, were like the no-see-ums that buzzed his ears at night in Florida. Just when he thought he had his finger on them, they disappeared. “We are not inaptly compared to a prize-ox, stung by hornets, unable to avoid or catch his annoyers,” one officer wrote. “Or we are justly likened to men harpooning minnows, and shooting sand pipers with artillery.”

“The white man,” Osceola sneered, “wants to catch water in a net for fish!”

The Second Seminole War was America’s first Vietnam—a guerrilla war of attrition, fought on unfamiliar, unforgiving terrain, against an underestimated, highly motivated enemy who often retreated but never quit. Soldiers and generals hated it, and public opinion soured on it, but Washington politicians, worried that ending it would make America look weak and create a domino effect among other tribes, prolonged it for years before it sputtered to a stalemate. Of the eight commanding generals who cycled through Florida, Taylor was the only one whose reputation was enhanced, when he declared victory after a clash near Lake Okeechobee—a battle that achieved nothing except to confirm the lake’s existence. Theodore Roosevelt, a historian before he was president, neatly summed up the conflict: “Our troops generally fought with great bravery, but there is very little else in the struggle, either as regards its origin or the matter in which it was carried on, to which an American can look back with any satisfaction.”

At the start of the war, a disgruntled lieutenant named George McCall predicted that it would drag on for seven years and cost $50 million—10 times what the United States paid for Florida, 100 times Jackson’s original budget for driving all the eastern tribes west of the Mississippi. McCall was right about the duration, and just a shade high on price. “Millions of money has been expended to gain this most barren, sandy, swampy and good-for-nothing peninsula,” wrote another lieutenant, Amos Eaton. Fifteen hundred federal regulars and hundreds of state volunteers would die in the effort to evict or exterminate every Indian in Florida; hundreds of Seminole men, women, and children would perish as well. “How vastly wide has the earth of Florida opened her grasping jaws, to swallow up human life during this Seminole War!” Eaton lamented.

Privation and Disease

WAR IS ALWAYS HELL, but Florida seemed worse. “Campaigning in Florida,” a twenty-six-year-old army surgeon named Jacob Motte wrote in his journal, “was characterized by every species of privation and disease.”

Motte had been educated at Harvard, where he had written essays about the nature of genius; he was a pipe smoker, a port drinker, the scion of a notable South Carolina family descended from the French aristocracy. But now he found himself “wading in morasses and swamps waist deep, exposed to noxious vapours and subject to the whims of drenching rains or the scorching sun of an almost torrid climate.” Now his companions included snakes, leeches, horseflies, and mosquitoes: “It was intolerable—excruciating!”

Motte had the rare opportunity to experience the Everglades in its natural splendor, and he despised almost every minute. “It was certainly the most dreary and pandemonium-like region I ever visited; nothing but barren wastes,” Motte wrote. It teemed with leeches, lizards, and other ugly, slimy creatures, not to mention the Indian “savages” that whites viewed as just another threatening species of the wild: “It is in fact a most hideous region to live in, a perfect paradise for Indians, alligators, serpents, frogs and every other kind of loathsome reptile.” It looked nothing like the breathtaking natural landscapes that the Hudson River School and the other artists of the Romantic era were promoting as national symbols of America’s greatness. It looked like a sloppy Kansas:

Before us and on either side of us, the scene presented to our view was one unbroken extent of water and morass, like that of a boundless rice-field when inundated. No obstruction offered itself to the eye as it wandered o’er the interminable, dreary waste of waters, except the tops of a tall rank grass, about five feet or upwards in height, and which harmonized well with the desolate aspect of the surrounding region, exhibiting a picture of universal desolation.


The troops spent so much time slogging through wetlands in the Everglades and Big Cypress that their ankles swelled like balloons, and gruesome inflammations covered their legs. “The doctors at one time thought that the amputation of both limbs would be necessary, and it was more than two years before all the sores were healed,” recalled a midshipman who spent two months around Lake Okeechobee. Hundreds of officers quit, and one colonel got so depressed he rammed his sword into his eye and through his brain. One officer suggested that anyone forced to fight in Florida should be promoted for his suffering, and given a year’s leave of absence “to polish up and see the ladies.”

The Americans had to drag their canoes, rifles, ammunition, and provisions through razor-edged sawgrass that ripped their clothes and sliced their skin, through muck so deep and sticky that one private dropped dead in his tracks from exhaustion. They shredded their boots on jagged pinnacle rocks that Motte compared to “a thick crop of sharply pointed knives,” never knowing who or what was behind the next tree. “Every rod of the way swarmed with rattlesnakes, moccasins, and other deadly reptiles,” one fighter recalled. Then there were the mosquitoes, the “swamp angels,” the bane of every soldier’s existence. “Their everlasting hum never ceases,” one doctor reported. “One of the sailors swore that they had divided into two gangs, and that one hoisted the net, whilst the other got under and fed, and I verily do believe there were enough of them to have done it.” General Alexander Webb’s war diaries give a sense of the torment:

April 12: Did nothing but send off express to Fort Deynaud at 4 A.M. and mourn my existence the rest of the day. Mosquitos perfectly awful.

April 13: No peace from mosquitos…. Stayed up all night…. Mosquitos awful. 1,000,000,000 of them.

April 18: Mosquitos worse than ever. They make life a burden.

April 19: I am perfectly exhausted by the heat and eaten up by the mosquitos…. They are perfectly intolerable.

Motte and his fellow medical men did not realize it, because they blamed tropical disease on “swamp miasmas” and the summer “sickly season,” but those mosquitoes spread malaria, dengue, and yellow fever. The U.S. troops also suffered from dysentery, tuberculosis, and a kind of collapse one officer described as a “general sinking of the system a regular cave-in of the constitution.” At one point, five battalions could not muster 100 men; after a two-month trek through Big Cypress, 600 out of 800 troops in one unit reported unfit for duty. Andrew Humphreys, a young lieutenant who later became one of the most influential and wrong-headed commanding generals in the history of the Army Corps of Engineers, described the crisis in a letter home: “My company now left with one sergeant and one corporal—both sick—the other non-commd officers, 2 sergts and 3 corpls, will be in St. Augustine sick!” Illness killed four times as many Americans as the Seminoles killed, with casualty lists dominated by generic diagnoses such as “ordinary disease” or “fever.” One regiment attributed sixty-three of its seventy deaths to “disease incident to climate and service in Florida.”

“Oh!” Motte wailed while in the grips of a fever of his own. “That I could only have escaped from [this] detested soil! That I might once more live like a human being!”

The Character of the Country

IN THE FRENZY of finger-pointing that followed his campaign, General Scott called Florida’s settlers cowards who “could see nothing but an Indian in every bush,” a jibe that got him hung in effigy in Tallahassee, while a rival general accused Scott of “folly,” “evil genius,” and treason. Another officer complained that President Jackson was “either wholly ignorant, erroneously informed or criminally apathetic as to the affairs of Florida,” while Jackson growled that Floridians were such “damned cowards” that they ought to let the Indians kill them, so that their “women might get husbands of courage, and breed up men who would defend the country.” Trapped in the White House, Jackson raged over the “unfortunate mismanagement of all the military operations in Florida,” and claimed he could have whipped the Seminoles with a force of fifty women.

But after all the charges and countercharges, a court of inquiry pinned the blame for Scott’s quagmire on Florida itself, citing “the impervious swamps and hammocks that abound in the country occupied by the enemy, affording him cover and retreat at every step.” This was an assessment everyone could accept. Scott complained that his men knew Florida about as well as they knew the Labyrinth of Crete. “The most prominent cause of failure was to be found in the face of the country, so well adapted to the guerrilla warfare which the Indians carry on, affording ambushes and fastnesses to them, and retardation to us,” another officer wrote. This retardation continued after Scott left Florida; his successor, Richard Call, lost 600 horses to starvation in a brief campaign. Call gave way to General Thomas Jesup, a renowned logistics expert who would serve forty-two years as the army’s quartermaster, but was stymied in Florida by logistical snarls that left him with insufficient guns, coffee, and canoes, and beans “utterly unfit for issue.”

To the men who fought there, Florida was the enemy, not the prize. In a defense of soldiers stigmatized for their service in Florida—yet another foreshadowing of Vietnam—Motte argued that their problem was morasses, not Indians:

This is the true secret that so long retarded the victorious termination of Indian hostilities in Florida. It was the character of the country, not the want of valor or persevering energy in our army—notwithstanding the abusive comments of some civilians, who, reclining on cushioned chairs in their comfortable and secure homes, vomited forth reproaches, sneers and condemnation, wantonly assailing the characters of those who, alienated from home and kindred and all the comforts of life, were compelled to remain in this inglorious war.


THEN AGAIN, the Seminoles managed to function in Florida’s morasses. Outmanned and outgunned, they repeatedly exploited their superior knowledge of the terrain, luring Americans carefully to prepared battlegrounds with prearranged escape routes, then cutting down a few of them before melting back into the wilderness.

At the Battle of Okeechobee, for example, the Seminoles waited for Taylor in a hammock protected by a half-mile-wide sawgrass marsh, after clearing a narrow path for the Americans. Taylor swallowed the bait, ordering a frontal assault through the clearing into enemy fire. The Seminoles mowed down twenty-six soldiers and wounded 112 others, then vanished before Taylor’s troops arrived to seize the hammock. In private letters, Old Rough and Ready sounded quite distraught for a commander who publicly bragged that he had “routed” the enemy: “I may be permitted to say, that I experienced one of the most trying scenes of my life, and he who could have looked on it with indifference, his nerves must have been very differently organized than my own.”

Taylor, who hadn’t wanted to trade a foot of the Midwest for a mile of Florida swamp, had traded the blood of his men for a hammock in the middle of nowhere. He got so frustrated that he sent an aide to Cuba to buy scent-sniffing bloodhounds, who turned out to be equally inept at tracking Indians in Florida’s wetlands. “Their whole object is to avoid coming in collision with us, which the situation of the country enables them to do,” Taylor wrote. “It is evident to all acquainted with the country that those people can remain with impunity in the Swamps & hammocks of the everglades…until or after the climate draws the white man from the country.” The Seminoles weren’t fighting a war of extermination. All they had to do was survive.

They were good at that. They knew how to live off the land, even without hickory or persimmon. “They had no difficulty finding plenty of food anywhere and everywhere,” wrote a young officer named William Tecumseh Sherman, one of 200 future Civil War generals who saw action in Florida. “Deer and wild turkey were abundant, and as for fish there was no end to them.” The Indians gathered bird eggs, turtles, and “swamp cabbage,” which trendy eateries now call “hearts of palm.” They grew corn, squash, and pumpkins on remote tree islands. They also discovered natural remedies on the run; the Seminole names of Everglades plants included “bitter medicine,” “diarrhea medicine,” and “ringworm medicine.” “There is no country in the world so peculiarly adapted to their wants and habits,” one lieutenant wrote.

The Everglades was a rich source of sustenance, but the idea that the Indians thrived while whites suffered was another Romantic myth, fueled by stereotypical comparisons of the Seminoles to wolves, serpents, and other wild creatures. The U.S. fighters could import food and supplies from outside Florida, leave their wives and children home, retreat from the swamps in the summer, and return home themselves after hitches as short as three months. The Seminoles had nowhere else to go. They couldn’t herd cattle or grow crops with any certainty on the run; they couldn’t visit the coast to fish without risking attacks by naval forces; they couldn’t even use their guns to hunt or set fires to cook without exposing their location. Sherman watched one Seminole woman remain mute after she was riddled with buckshot; others suffocated crying babies to avoid detection in the silence of the swamps. At parleys, Indians hid their nakedness with tattered corn bags that U.S. soldiers discarded, and scrounged corn kernels that U.S. horses dropped. Still, they refused to leave Florida.

As the Seminoles fled deeper into the Everglades, it became harder for U.S. soldiers to understand why their government wanted them to drive the Indians out of a “God-abandoned” hellscape where they were unlikely to get in anyone’s way anytime soon, when their proposed reservation in Oklahoma lay directly in the path of America’s westward expansion. Sherman saw the peninsula as “the Indian’s paradise, of little value to us,” and suggested that instead of kicking the Seminoles out, America should move the other eastern tribes in. South Florida, General Jesup concluded, was not “worth the medicines we shall expend in driving the Indians from it.”

The Betrayal

JESUP, THE GENERAL whose reputation suffered the most damage in the Florida War, was also the general who best understood its folly. He described it as “a Negro war,” not an Indian war, fueled by selfish white Floridians who wanted to use his troops as “negro-catchers.” Jesup became convinced his nation was running a fool’s errand, a “reckless waste of blood and treasure,” and he was increasingly unhappy to be the errand boy. “The Indians are a persecuted race, and we are engaged in an unholy cause,” he once said.

But removal was the law of the land, and few politicians were inclined to exempt the Seminoles, who had shed American blood and sheltered American slaves. The very existence of the Seminoles in Florida threatened the institution of slavery throughout the South; 800 blacks fled plantations to join the tribe, the largest slave revolt in U.S. history if considered en masse. Secretary of War Joel Poinsett warned Jesup that allowing even one Indian to remain unmolested in Florida would betray weakness and tarnish the national honor, encouraging copycat resistance from other tribes. Jesup thought it was ridiculous to worry about saving face with savages, but he soldiered on.

He tried to negotiate with the Seminoles, but he soon concluded that they could never be trusted to leave Florida voluntarily; they were only coming to parleys for the food. So in October 1837, after Osceola led seventy warriors to another parley under a white flag of truce, Jesup had them surrounded and imprisoned. Jesup was instantly pilloried in the press for his double-dealing, while Osceola was hailed as the patriotic leader of an oppressed people. “We disclaim all participation in the ‘glory’ of this achievement of American generalship,” huffed the Niles Register. “If practiced towards a civilized foe, [it] would be characterized as a violation of all that is noble and generous in war.” Jesup was by far the most successful U.S. general in Florida, forcing 2,000 Indians to move west, but he would spend the rest of his career writing long-winded justifications of his treachery.

Osceola, already weak with abscessed tonsils and malaria, was shipped to a South Carolina prison, where the frontier artist George Catlin painted his portrait and promoted his legend. The thirty-three-

year-old warrior sighed to his prison doctor, Frederic Weedon, that the Seminole birthright had been stolen by “the strong & oppressive hand of the white people.” The spirit was draining out of him, this time for real. In a scene immortalized in verse by Walt Whitman, Osceola slowly donned ostrich plumes, leggings, and a turban, as well as a war belt, silver spurs, and red war paint. With his two wives and two children at his side, he clutched his scalping knife in his right hand, lay on his back, and died with a smile. “Thus has a great savage sunk to the grave,” Weedon wrote in his diary. Twenty-two towns, three counties, two lakes, two mountains, a state park, a national forest, a snake, and a turkey were later named in his honor, along with the Florida State University mascot, the mistitled Chief Osceola, who plants a flaming spear at midfield before Seminole home games.

But in a final act of white betrayal, the eccentric Dr. Weedon chopped the head off his patient’s corpse, later hanging it above his children’s beds as a grotesque warning for them not to misbehave. It was never recovered for a proper burial. And for all the popular outrage over Osceola’s martyrdom, America kept trying to wipe out his people for four years after his death. Jesup immediately launched a new campaign to hunt the Seminoles in the heart of south Florida, hoping to terminate an interminable war.

*   *   *

IN JANUARY 1838, about 1,500 bedraggled American troops gathered along the Loxahatchee River at the northeast edge of the Everglades. Three hundred Seminoles awaited them in a hammock near today’s Jupiter, this one protected by a half-mile-wide cypress slough that would swallow their horses to their saddle girths, much like the marsh that confounded Taylor at Lake Okeechobee. And Jesup ordered a frontal assault on the entrenched Indian position, just as Taylor had done. His artillerymen lobbed shells into the hammock, and infantrymen clawed through the slough on foot, ducking a barrage of bullets. “The Indians yelled and shrieked,” Jacob Motte recalled. “The rifles cracked, and their balls whistled; the musketry rattled; the rockets whizzed; the artillery bellowed; the shells burst, and take it all in there was created no small racket for awhile.”

The Americans eventually reached the heavily wooded hammock, but by then the Seminoles had retreated to the other side of the Loxahatchee, where they had prepared a second position by cutting notches for their rifles in cypress trees overlooking the river. The Americans were exposed again, and the Seminoles pumped more volleys into their lines; one musket ball shattered Jesup’s glasses, slicing open his cheek. Finally, the fearless Colonel William Harney and his dragoons “plunged into the swift torrent, and crossed in the face of a shower of balls which whistled about them.” Motte memorably described the Seminoles’ response: “They immediately absquatulated.”

Jesup claimed victory, just as Taylor had done, bragging that he had “met, beat and dispersed the enemy.” But again, it was hard to see what he had won, or why dispersing an enemy he was trying to kill or capture was a good thing. Seven Americans were killed, and thirty-one wounded. “There before us lay death in his most horrible forms; bodies pierced with ghastly wounds, and locks begrimed with gore,” Motte wrote. The Americans had taken the field, but again it was not a field they wanted. One Indian had been killed, but the rest had fled to fight another day. Jesup realized that complete removal was a lost cause, and said so in a private protest to Secretary Poinsett:

In regards to the Seminoles, we have committed the error of attempting to remove them when their lands were not required for agricultural purposes; when they were not in the way of the white inhabitants; and when the greater portion of their country was an unexplored wilderness, of the interior of which we were as ignorant as of the interior of China. We exhibit, in the present contest, the first instance, perhaps, since the commencement of authentic history, of a nation employing an army to explore a country, for we can do little more than explore it.


The War of Exploration

IN THE SUMMER OF 1839, General Macomb cut the deal that Jesup had advocated all along, leaving much of southwest Florida to the Seminoles in exchange for peace. Colonel Harney was assigned to fortify a trading post for a new reservation on the Caloosahatchee River.

William Harney was another Jackson protégé, profane, cocky, and tough as rock. Secretary of War Jefferson Davis called him “physically the finest specimen of man I ever saw,” with a muscular chest and astonishing athleticism: “Had he lived in the time of Homer, he would have robbed Achilles of his sobriquet of ‘swift-footed.’ ” Harney could also be stubborn as rock; he was court-martialed twice for insubordination—once for refusing to use a military tailor, once for refusing to drill while recovering from gonorrhea. And he had some anger issues. He once flogged a female servant to death with a rawhide, and beat a dog that had the temerity to cross his vegetable garden. When a private complained that if he were a captain, Harney wouldn’t treat him so harshly, Harney told him to consider himself promoted, then thrashed him to a pulp.

But Harney saw no point in fighting the Seminoles. On a stop for provisions at the twelve-acre island of Indian Key, he told a local horticulturalist named Henry Perrine he would go to the Caloosahatchee alone with his hands tied behind his back if that would prove his good faith. “Harney, they are treacherous rascals,” Perrine replied. “Don’t trust them too much.” Harney should have listened. One night after he went to sleep, 160 Indians led by the hulking warrior Chakaika overwhelmed his contingent of thirty soldiers, scalping many of them under their mosquito bars. Harney escaped in his underwear, blackened his face with mud, and raced barefoot through the woods to safety. He hobbled back that night to find half his men dead, some with their entrails ripped out. Nothing had ever infuriated him like the Caloosahatchee double-cross, the duplicity of Indians who had just assured him they were satisfied with Macomb’s treaty. “There must be no more talking—they must be hunted down as so many wild beasts,” he raged. “Let every one taken be hung up in the woods to inspire terror in the rest!”

*   *   *

BEFORE HARNEY COULD hunt him down, Chakaika led his band across Florida Bay for another raid, this one on Indian Key. Dr. Perrine was one of the first settlers killed, after ignoring his own advice and trying to reason with the Indians. But first he managed to hustle his wife and children out a trapdoor in his cellar. They hid beneath a wharf for hours while the Indians pillaged their property, carrying off trunks, burning books, devouring fresh-baked bread and pies. “After their repast was over they would take first one pile of dishes and then another & throw them upon the floor breaking them to pieces, & they would dance & whoop!” Perrine’s daughter wrote. One brave turned their way after hearing a splash, but saw only turtles. The Perrines were forced to dash out of hiding after the Indians set their house on fire, but they miraculously stumbled across a Seminole canoe and paddled it to safety, eluding shots the Indians fired at them across the bay.

It was a cinematic escape, but Chakaika’s braves killed thirteen pioneers before retreating to the Everglades. It was becoming clear that the Americans could no longer allow the Seminoles to choose their battlegrounds. It was time to take the fight to the Indians, to flush them out of their hideaways. If the Seminoles can penetrate the Everglades, Harney vowed, so could he.

In December 1840, Harney and a black guide led ninety men in sixteen canoes to hunt Chakaika, ascending the Miami River before crossing the Everglades from east to west. One private noted that its “undying growth of ever-green grass, rising about six feet above the surface of the water, and waving in the breeze, gives it at times the semblance of a vast green ocean.” An anonymous soldier wrote in the St. Augustine News that the Everglades seemed “expressly intended as a retreat for the rascally Indian.”

On their fifth day in the marsh, while lingering on a tree island, the Americans spotted canoes in the distance. For once they ambushed the Indians, capturing two warriors and a woman, accidentally killing another woman with one of the newfangled “revolvers” that the manufacturer Samuel Colt had given Harney to test in the swamp. The next day, the surviving widow led them to Chakaika’s island, where they found the chief chopping wood. Chakaika howled and tried to flee, but the Americans shot him, scalped him, and hung his corpse from a tree. Harney’s detachment then left the island and stumbled across Shark Slough, which they rode to the mangroves of the southwest coast. “We have now crossed the long fabled and unknown Everglades…. We have accomplished what has never been done by white man,” the anonymous soldier bragged.

Harney killed or captured only two dozen Indians, but he showed the Seminoles that south Florida was no longer their safe haven, that Americans were determined to penetrate and dominate the Everglades.

*   *   *

THE U.S. TROOPS SPENT the rest of the war on search-and-destroy missions in the Everglades, but they did a lot more searching than destroying. The Everglades was still unmapped and only sporadically navigable, and there were only a few hundred Indians hiding in its vast expanses. “The commands in canoes penetrated every part of the Everglades, finding abandoned fields, villages and trails, but not an Indian or a track was seen,” Lieutenant John McLaughlin wrote after three weeks in the Everglades with his 200-man Mosquito Fleet. Still, he argued, the fleet’s time was well spent: “If our labors have not been rewarded with the capture of any of the enemy, they have at least gained us information of an extensive country which had never hitherto been explored, and exhibited an imposing force in the heart of a country hitherto deemed impenetrable.”

As Jesup had predicted, the most important thing the U.S. military did in the Everglades was explore it, revealing a slice of Florida that had been as mysterious as the interior of China. Most of the explorers concluded the Everglades should be avoided at all costs. In letters and diaries, they denounced it as a “horridly gloomy-looking,” “bewildering,” “Stygian,” “monstrous,” “unredeemable,” “diabolical,” “tiresome” wasteland. “At night as we lay down the uproar around us was fearful,” wrote an army captain named Abner Doubleday, who was later credited (falsely) with inventing baseball and (accurately) with firing the first Union shot in the Civil War. “Birds of all kinds were making the night hideous with discordant sounds.”

But on occasion, some of the men betrayed a grudging admiration for this singular wilderness. Even Jacob Motte—when he wasn’t venting about oppressive heat, poisonous critters, hellacious storms, or the ungrateful politicians who had dispatched him to the Everglades—had his moments of Romantic reverence. He was enchanted by wild ducks that seemed to blot out the sun, by mangroves covered by so many egrets they looked like cotton fields, by radiant roseate spoonbills that would “hover over our heads, looking like the leaves of a rose that had been broken and given to the streaming air.” There was something to be said for the “solitary grandeur” of the Everglades, its “savage and undisturbed communion,” its magical nuances of color and texture and light. The Everglades was the essence of raw nature, “sacred from the invading plough.” It was the opposite of genteel civilization, and even a Charleston aristocrat could appreciate that:

Nothing, however, can be imagined more lovely and picturesque than the thousand little isolated spots, scattered in all directions over the surface of this immense sheet of water, which seemed like a placid inland sea shining under a bright sun…. As we threaded this maze of countless islets, studding the unbroken surface of water in loneliness and silence amid the wild romance of nature—far secluded from the haunts of civilized man and marked only by the characteristics of wildest desolation…we felt the most intense admiration, and gazed with a mingled emotion of delight and awe.


THE SEMINOLES NEVER DID SURRENDER. In 1842, President John Tyler finally agreed to let the last 300 Indians remain in Big Cypress Swamp and the western Everglades. “The further pursuit of these miserable beings by a large military force seems to be as injudicious as it is unavailing,” Tyler told Congress.

White Floridians continued to press for the removal of the Seminoles, and Army officers continued to conduct surveys near their lands. Hostilities flared up again in 1855, when a surveying party at the edge of Big Cypress vandalized some banana plants belonging to the mercurial chief Billy Bowlegs, who retaliated with an ambush. That started the Third Seminole War, a series of skirmishes that achieved nothing, except for more accurate maps and descriptions of the Everglades. The sporadic conflict ended when Bowlegs agreed to move west with 163 supporters for $44,600 in bribes.

But 100 or so unconquered, unbribed Seminoles remained in the Everglades, and few of the Americans who had chased them there had a problem with that. “This country should be preserved for the Indians…and if the fleas and other vermin do not destroy them they might be left to live,” declared Alexander Webb, the general with the mosquito-obsessed diary. “I could not wish them all in a worse place.”
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